
 
 

Neuadd y Sir 
Y Rhadyr 
Brynbuga 
NP15 1GA 
 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Wednesday, 10 January 2018 

 

Notice of meeting / Hysbysiad o gyfarfod: 
 

County Council 
 

Thursday, 18th January, 2018 at 2.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk 

 

AGENDA 
 

Prayers will be said prior to the Council meeting at 1.55pm. All members are welcome to join the 
Chairman for prayers should they wish to do. 

 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of interest 

 
 

3.   Chairman's announcement and receipt of petitions 

 
1 - 2 

4.   Public open forum 

 
 

5.   To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14th December 2017 

 
3 - 12 

6.   To receive the minutes of the Public Service Board meeting held on 8th 
November 2017 

 

13 - 16 

7.   To receive the action list of the meeting held on 14th December 2017 

 
17 - 18 

8.   Report of the Chief Officer, Resources: 

 
 

8.1.   Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 
 

 

19 - 22 

9.   ANEURIN BEVAN UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD - REDESIGNING 
MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR OLDER PEOPLE - DRAFT 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

23 - 56 

10.   Notices of motion 
 
None. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

11.   Members questions 

 
 

11.1.   From County Councillor M. Groucutt to County Councillor B. Jones 
 
Will the ban on importing of plastics for re-cycling by the Chinese government 
have any impact, financial or logistical, on Monmouthshire’s new strategy for 
maximising re-cycling in the county? 
 

 

 

11.2.   From County Councillor R. Roden to County Councillor R. John 
 
Please can the Cabinet Member update us on progress of the build at 
Monmouth Comprehensive School and engagement with the local 
community? 

 

 

12.   To note the dates of the following meetings: 
 
Special meeting – Thursday 15th February 2018 at 2pm 
 
Ordinary meeting – moved to Thursday 8th March at 5pm 

 

 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive  

 
 

 



 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
County Councillors: D. Batrouni 

D. Blakebrough 
M. Powell 
V. Smith 
P. Clarke 
D. Dovey 
A. Easson 
R. Edwards 
D. Evans 
P.A. Fox 
R.J.W. Greenland 
L. Guppy 
R. Harris 
J. Higginson 
G. Howard 
S. Howarth 
D. Jones 
P. Jones 
S. Jones 
S.B. Jones 
P. Jordan 
P. Murphy 
B. Strong 
F. Taylor 
A. Watts 
A. Webb 
K. Williams 
J.Becker 
L.Brown 
A.Davies 
L.Dymock 
M.Feakins 
M.Groucutt 
R.John 
L.Jones 
M.Lane 
P.Pavia 
J.Pratt 
R.Roden 
T.Thomas 
J.Treharne 
J.Watkins 
S. Woodhouse 

 
Public Information 



 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Outcomes we are working towards 
 
Nobody Is Left Behind  

 Older people are able to live their good life  

 People have access to appropriate and affordable housing  

 People have good access and mobility  

 
People Are Confident, Capable and Involved  

 People’s lives are not affected by alcohol and drug misuse  

 Families are supported  

 People feel safe  

 
Our County Thrives  

 Business and enterprise 

 People have access to practical and flexible learning  

 People protect and enhance the environment 

 
Our priorities 
 

 Schools 

 Protection of vulnerable people 

 Supporting Business and Job Creation 

 Maintaining locally accessible services 

 
Our Values 
 

 Openness: we aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships. 

 Fairness: we aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and become an 

organisation built on mutual respect. 

 Flexibility: we aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective and 

efficient organisation. 

 Teamwork: we aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by building on 

our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals. 



 

 



Chairman’s Report 

7th December – 4th January 2018 
 

Thursday 7th December  Citizenship Ceremony 

Tuesday 12th December 

4.45 p.m. 

Service of Lessons and Carols 

Priory Church of St Mary, Monmouth 

Thursday 14th December 

7 p.m. 

Emergency Service Christmas Carol Service 

Llandaff Cathedral, Cardiff 

Friday 15th December 

7 p.m. 

North Monmouthshire Music Centre Christmas Concert 

Abergavenny Leisure Centre 

Thursday 4thJanuary Citizenship Ceremony 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillor M. Powell (Chairman) 
County Councillor J. Higginson (as Vice Chairman) 
 

 County Councillors: D. Batrouni, D. Blakebrough, V. Smith, 
D. Dovey, A. Easson, D. Evans, P.A. Fox, R.J.W. Greenland, 
L. Guppy, R. Harris, J. Higginson, S. Howarth, D. Jones, P. Jones, 
S. Jones, S.B. Jones, P. Jordan, P. Murphy, B. Strong, F. Taylor, 
A. Watts, A. Webb, K. Williams, J.Becker, L.Brown, A.Davies, 
L.Dymock, M.Feakins, M.Groucutt, R.John, M.Lane, P.Pavia, J.Pratt, 
R.Roden, T.Thomas, J.Treharne, J.Watkins and S. Woodhouse 
 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Paul Matthews Chief Executive 
Kellie Beirne Chief Officer, Enterprise 
Peter Davies Chief Officer, Resources 
Roger Hoggins Head of Operations 
Robert Tranter Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
Nicola Perry Senior Democracy Officer 

 

APOLOGIES: 
 

County Councillors P. Clarke, R. Edwards, G. Howard and L.Jones 
 
2. Declarations of interest  

 
3. Chairman's announcement and receipt of petitions  

 
The Chair took the opportunity to thank Members for their donations to the Chairman’s charities 
this year. 
 
Councillor Thomas presented a petition on behalf of Bring Back Bailey Park Outdoor Swimming 
Pool Group who requested that MCC consider the needs of Monmouthshire residents in relation 
to Bailey Park and its facilities. 
 
Councillor Howarth presented a petition on behalf of residents of Dan-Y-Coed, Clydach  who 
requested a full investigation regarding the embankment being constructed behind Dan-Y-Coed 
bungalows, which had been constructed without consultation. 
 
We noted the change in membership on the Board of Monmouthshire Housing Association.  
Councillor Batrouni confirmed his membership. 
 
The Chair welcomed Charlie-Jade Atkins from Monmouthshire Youth Service who was in 
attendance to present to Council information regarding primary school competition, and asked 
that Members visited schools in their ward areas, along with a youth worker and explain what 
they do.  The children would then be asked to draw them, which would then be entered into a 
competition.  Members were keen to endorse the idea and were willing to get involved. 
 
We welcomed Paul Sullivan, who presented to Council detail of the Primary School Playmaker 
programme.  The Playmaker award is a six hour course focusing on communication, leadership, 
organisation and resilience, and is aimed at year 5 and 6 children.  In response to questions we 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
heard that the programme is 100% funded through Sport Wales, and is reviewed annually.  The 
cost per annum £110,000.  Where children did not wish to engage, the programme sought to 
identify ways to support in alternative ways with plenty of activity, finding areas they like, and 
building confidence.  With regards to weather implications the team would consider the best use 
of space, whether that be school halls or classrooms.  Members commended the team and 
recognised that achievement of being the authority first in the UK to carry out this scheme.   
 
There is an even split of gender through the volunteer programme.  In terms of ALN and free 
school meals children, successful examples were provided in terms of outcomes. The Chief 
Officer for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health recognised the measures of impact, and noted 
the connection with the upcoming item.  
 
4. Public Open Forum  

 
There were no matters for the public open forum. 
 
5. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9th November 2017  

 
The minutes of the meeting of Council held on 9th November 2017 were confirmed for accuracy 
and signed by the Chair. 
 
We noted a correction on page 8.  The last sentence of 11.4 should read  
However in all years there has been an underspend in out of county budget which has more 
than offset those figures. 
 
Members expressed frustration at the lack of action list on the agenda.   
 
6. Reports of the Chief Officer for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health  

 
6.1.   Safeguarding Presentation 

Members received an awareness presentation emphasising the importance of safeguarding.  
The Chief Officer thanked those involved with the presentation, and stressed the importance of 
everyone within the Council to be aware.   
 

6.2.   Volunteering Policy 
The Cabinet Member for Finance presented the Volunteering Policy, the purpose of the report 
being to provide a robust Volunteering Policy position, applicable to all service/business areas 
including schools. 
 
In response to a comment regarding insurance, Council  was advised that this was currently 
being looked at by insurance officers in order to identify solutions.  Volunteer DBS checks are 
free of charge, with no costs incurred. 
 
The Chief Officer stated that she is confident that the systems are in place that ensure people 
accessing information are those that should be doing so. 
 
The Leader welcomed the report and commended the Volunteering Lead on the robust and 
strong policy. 
 
In terms of review, all policies are constantly monitored and updated.  The suitability of the 
policy would be assessed annually, and refreshed every 3-5 years. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, Council resolved to agree the recommendation: 
 

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 

That the Volunteering Policy be adopted by Council and circulated to all 
service/business areas and commended to governing bodies for adoption as 
soon as possible. 
 
 

6.3.   Safeguarding evaluation report 
The Cabinet Member for Social Care presented the Safeguarding Evaluative Report: 
 

 To evaluate the progress of Monmouthshire County Council’s key safeguarding 
priorities, in the period April – October 2017, using identified measures to highlight 
progress, identify risks and set out clear improvement actions and priorities for further 
development. 

 To inform Members about the effectiveness of safeguarding in Monmouthshire and the 
work that is in progress to support the Council’s aims in protecting children and adults at 
risk from harm and abuse. 

 To inform Members about the progress made towards meeting the standards in the 
Council’s Corporate Safeguarding Policy approved by Council in July 2017. 

 
In response to questions we heard that the DBS exception report has been moved from 
quarterly to periodic due to the importance of the check in terms of the safer recruitment 
process and it being not appropriate to wait for a quarterly check, and to ensure immediate risks 
are managed. 
 
In terms of addressing issues surrounding loneliness in adult social care, this would come under 
the preventative approach to safeguarding and the wellbeing workforce has been introduced 
who work with people who are lonely and isolated to connect them to certain services and social 
opportunities.   
 
Councillor Batrouni sought assurance that the framework would identify weaknesses or 
breaches.  The Chief Officer responded that the report aims to be an honest appraisal of where 
we are. A review report is expected April 2018 
 
Councillor Pratt thanked the social services team, specifically for the work being undertaken in 
Llanelly Hill. 
 
The External Reference Group had provided helpful point, the minutes could be forwarded to 
Members.   
 
In response to a question regarding the Faithful and Gould asset survey of Chepstow School, 
The Chief Officer for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health advised that she would ask the 
Chief Officer for Children and Young People to provide a response. 
 
There was concern that the Council had been commissioning services without a risk based 
management and quality assurance process across all providers.  In response we heard that 
the majority of placements made in Children’s’ Services go through the ‘Four Cs’, a 
commissioning consortium across South Wales here providers come onto a framework, and 
accreditation, quality and safeguarding checks are undertaken  In Children’s Services a 
contracts officer does some of that work for the off contract provider.  This is being moved in to 
the commissioning function in Social Care and Health.  
 
In terms of the assessment of safe services having important weaknesses, it is recognised there 
are a vast array of services around safeguarding and analysis is showing that safeguarding is 
built in but we do not have a full picture as a Council.  There is to be an internal audit of the 
whole programme to be undertaken in the new year. 

Page 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
 
Council resolved to agree the recommendation: 
 

To note the key safeguarding risks and approve the priority improvement actions 
as set out at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

To endorse the evaluation of safeguarding progress set out in Appendix 5 to this 

report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Report of the Monitoring Officer:  

 
7.1.   Update to constitution 

The Cabinet Member for Governance presented a report for Council to consider and adopt 
the proposed changes to the council’s constitution.  The proposed highlights were 
highlighted green in the attached report. 
 
It was expressed that the decisions had been made previously and there was nothing 
that had not been seen before. 
 
Members were reassured that the updated version would be accessible via the Hub, as 
well as a central hard copy available at County Hall. 
 
Council resolved to agree the recommendation: 
 
To adopt the attached document as the council’s constitution. 
 
 
8. Reports of the Head of Policy and Governance:  

 
8.1.   Bryn Y Cwm Area Committee Pilot 

The Cabinet Member for Governance presented a report in order to seek approval of council 
to a temporary amendment of the constitution which will allow town and community 
council members voting rights on the Bryn y Cwm Area Committee. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, Council agreed the recommendations: 
 
That council agree to a temporary amendment to the constitution of the Bryn y 
Cwm Area Committee to allow town and community council members who sit on 
the Bryn y Cwm Area Committee voting rights for the duration of the area working 
pilot, ending in September 2018. 
 
That the quorum of the Bryn y Cwm Area Committee is one quarter of the whole 
number of members being 23 

Page 6



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
 
9. Reports of the Deputy Chief Executive:  

 
9.1.   City Deal 

The Chief Executive presented a report, the purpose being to provide Council with an update on 
some key elements within the City Deal programme. 
 
Since the formation of the City Deal programme MCC have been hosting the position of Interim 
Programme Director, performing a pay and rations role.  The Joint Cabinet now want to solidify 
this role and are asking if MCC would be prepared to host the position.  The funding will come 
from City Deal and not MCC. The report does not ask to commit to any financial contribution.  
As with any posts in excess of £100k there are processes to be put in place where councils are 
content to proceed, and this report looks to satisfy that requirement.  The appointment panel 
would likely be the Leaders of the 10 councils, and the processes to be followed would largely 
be those of Cardiff City Council. 
 
The Leader moved the recommendation and stated the importance of a significant person who 
would be fundamental in shaping the work programme for the City Deal. 
 
Councillor Watts expressed concern that the salary should be based on performance and 
delivery.  The Leader responded that there will be a joint scrutiny function, and outcomes will be 
expected to be delivered over the three year contract. 
 
If MCC does host the position, it is not likely that the person would be based in Monmouthshire.  
Councillor Howarth requested that should an MCC officer be successful, that position should be 
replaced as soon as possible. 
 
Council resolved to agree the recommendations: 
 
To seek approval for Monmouthshire County Council to host the temporary/ fixed term 
contract of employment for the City Deal Programme Director post for a three- year 
period from 1 April 2018. The nature of the contract will be determined by the 
appointment of the successful candidate and will be via either a secondment basis or a 
fixed term appointment basis. 
 
To report this role to Council and to ratify Council approval for the employment of a post 
which is in excess of £100,000 per annum.  
 
Under The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006, as amended in 
2014, due to the fact that the proposed remuneration of the City Deal Programme Director 
will be in excess of £100,000 per annum, there is a necessity for the role to be reported to 
Council. 
 
Due to the secondment / fixed term contract arrangements identified above, the current 
employer of the successful candidate will not be known until after the recruitment 
process has been completed, therefore the post needs to be ratified by whichever 
Council is the employer, and until this takes place only a conditional offer would be able 
to be made. An update report will be provided to Council following the recruitment & 
selection appointment process 
 
10. Notices of Motion:  

 
10.1.   Motion from County Councillor K. Williams 

Page 7



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
This council will look to invest in our operations department during the next round of budget 
talks. We will look to invest around £250,000 in our street scene and highways operations to 
increase the capacity to carry out highways and grounds maintenance to the level expected of 
us by council tax payers. The Labour group and Conservative administration will take part in 
meaningful discussion to achieve this. 
 
Councillor Batrouni seconded the motion. 
 
During debate the following points were noted: 
 
The Cabinet Member welcomed suggestions from the Labour Group in how to find funds to 
increase the budget.  He added that he would work with the Labour Group in doing so.  He 
reminded that costed suggestions must be made before 31st January 2018. 
 
The Leader recognised and sympathised with the issues and asked the opposition to come 
together and create an alternative budget. 
 
The opposition leader stressed that alternative budgets had previously been ignored. 
 
Independent Member Councillor Blakebrough thought it good for the two parties to work 
together particularly Westminster and Cardiff have taken the money that the community locally 
so desperately need.  She agreed with the motion in principle and thanked Councillor Williams 
for raising the issue.    
 
There were concerns amongst Members regarding the budget surrounding highways and 
infrastructure.  Also the delay in implementing the alternative delivery model. 
 
Councillor Webb commended the exemplary service within her ward 
 
Upon being put to the vote the motion was defeated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.2.   Motion from County Councillor D. Batrouni 
Since raising the question about period poverty, the Labour group have received anecdotal 
information that it is an issue in Monmouthshire. Therefore, the Labour group requests that the 
Council works with local comprehensives and foodbanks in order to ascertain the scale of the 
need in Monmouthshire and to help, where appropriate, provide sanitary products for women 
and girls. The council should also consider the current strategy of providing vending machines 
for sanitary products at schools and the cost per unit that it charges. 
Additionally, we ask that the council considers the use of sustainable products in the form of 
reusable and biodegradable products, as the UK produces 200,000 tonnes of oil based waste in 
the form of discarded sanitary products each year. Finally, that the Council resolutely 
determines, as a matter of policy and on a cross-party basis, to eradicate period poverty in 
Monmouthshire. 
 
Councillor Batrouni presented the motion thanking the Cabinet Member for the response at the 
previous Council meeting, and stated that following the meeting there had been many 
messages from the community confirming this to be an issue.  He added that he had been told 
that nurses in secondary schools are handing out sanitary products and have been doing so for 

Page 8



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
years, some paying for them from their own pocket.  He questioned if the Council should think 
about the costs and margins of vending machines in the secondary schools. 
 
Councillor D. Evans seconded the motion 
 
In response, Cabinet Member, Councillor S Jones confirmed that she is absolutely committed to 
eradicating period poverty and proposed an amended motion: 
 
This Council will continue to work with schools, foodbanks and all relevant agencies to ascertain 
the scale of the need in Monmouthshire and through working in partnership we will identify how 
we can support those who are affected by period poverty.  As part of this approach we will 
consider the use of sustainable products in the form of re-useable and biodegradable products 
and this Council remains committed to working with all of our partners towards eradicating 
period poverty in Monmouthshire. 
 
Councillor S. Jones explained that she had included ‘all agencies’ in her amended motion 
referring to primary schools and their growing up programme, housing associations and other 
charities.  She confirmed that she has been in touch with the organisation Wings and hoped to 
provide confidence that she is following up on this issue.  It was explained that reference to 
vending machines had been removed as that is a Welsh Government Policy and not our 
strategy to consider.  We heard that only one comprehensive school in Monmouthshire has a 
vending machine, yet all schools offer free sanitary products as part of the welfare rooms.  
Councillor Jones added she would continue to work on this agenda on behalf of women and 
girls of Monmouthshire. 
 
Council debated the amended motion: 
 
Councillor Batrouni expressed concern at dropping the terms ‘provide’ and ‘policy’ as this would 
be seen as enabling but not acting ourselves. 
 
Members were keen to support the motion and welcomed hard data on period poverty. 
 
The Cabinet Member welcomed the suggestion that Members form a sub group to advance 
work on this issue. 
 
Upon being put to vote, Council carried the amended motion. 
 
11. Members Questions:  

 
11.1.   From County Councillor S. Woodhouse to County Councillor R. John 

What assessment has the Cabinet Member made of the implications for schools in 
Monmouthshire of the Welsh Government’s cuts to the Education Improvement Grant? 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor R. John thanked Councillor Woodhouse for the question and 
responded that the Education Improvement Grant (EIG) is distributed to schools through the 
education consortia, EAS, and that money is used for a wide variety of valuable school 
improvement activities such as teacher training and foundation stage staffing.  WG has 
announced cuts to the fund and have not provided any clarity on which aspects of the EIG are 
to be cut and there is considerable concern among headteachers in Monmouthshire about the 
impact of these cuts, particularly on our most vulnerable learners.  He added that he had met 
with the Cabinet Secretary for Education and had expressed the concern, and she had 
explained that the EIG and a number of grants are to be moved into the revenue support grant, 
which is also being cut here in Monmouthshire.  Councillor John has written to the Cabinet 
Secretary to reiterate his concerns and request that WG reconsider.  Cllr John recognised that 

Page 9



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
public money is in short supply but noted that WG have reserves totalling over £300m, and 
have also received just over £1.2b from the Chancellor’s budget and just a fraction of that could 
protect the EIG, support teachers in delivering the new curriculum, and help support them in 
their work to drive up standards in schools in Monmouthshire. 
 
As a supplementary Cllr Woodhouse asked that Members are informed of the response from 
WG and are kept up to date on this item. 
 
12. From County Councillor A. Webb to County Councillor S. Jones  

 
Has the Cabinet Member received a response to the motion approved at the September full 
Council meeting which supported Monmouthshire being prioritised for broadband deployment in 
the next round of Welsh Government funding? 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor S. Jones thanked Councillor Webb for the question and responded 
that in terms of consultation there had been no formal reply but WG had provided a summary of 
responses from all those consulted.  As part of our consultation response we asked that some 
of the £80m funding be drawn down to this Council.  To date there has been no response from 
WG but we will keep pushing on that. We do know that there will be over 10% of households 
that won’t have access to Superfast Broadband which is below the Welsh average.  We don’t 
know if those 1600 properties that were in the AB project will be included in the next round.  In 
terms of whether we will be prioritised we know that we have £80m going forward as part of the 
WG funding for the whole of Wales. Monmouthshire is in a bid area with Powys, Flintshire, 
Wrexham, Vale of Glamorgan, Cardiff and Newport and are at level 3 of 5 levels, so not high 
priority at this stage.  Councillor Jones is keen to work cross party to solve this issue. 
 
 
  
 
13. Report of the Head of Operations:  

 
13.1.   To resolve to exclude the press and public from the meeting during 

consideration of the following item of business in accordance with Section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that 
it involves the information as defined in Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 
12A to the Act [Proper Officer’s view attached]. 

 
 

13.2.   HoV Food Waste Procurement - Evaluation Of Invitation To Submit Initial 
Tenders & Identification Of Preferred Bidder 

Council were presented with a report the purpose being to brief Council on the process for 
tender and contract award for the provision of food waste treatment services on behalf of 
Monmouthshire County Council, Blaenau Gwent CBC and Torfaen CBC and seek approval to 
identify the preferred bidder and proceed to the final stages of contract award. 
 
Following discussion Council resolved to agree the recommendations: 
 
That Council receive a report from officers on the tender process to date and what the 
next steps are to arrive at the contract award. 
 
That Council support the identification of the preferred bidder and that officers proceed 
to negotiation and contract award subject to .Blaenau 
Gwent CBC and Torfaen CBC also approving the identification of the preferred bidder. 
 

Page 10



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
 

The meeting ended at 1.50 pm  
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

1 
 

Public Service Board 

Wednesday 8th November 2017 at County Hall, Usk 

Minutes 

Attendees:  

 
Apologies:  

 

  

Huw Jakeway South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 

Sharran Lloyd Monmouthshire County Council 

Paul Matthews (chair) Monmouthshire County Council 

David Barnes (minutes) Monmouthshire County Council 

Steve Morgan Natural Resources Wales 

Julian Williams Gwent Police 

Nick Wood Aneurin Bevan University Health Board 

Steven Tilley (for Martin Featherstone) GAVO 

Eleri Thomas (for Jeff Cuthbert) Office of Police & Crime Commissioner 

Jeff Scrivens South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 

Paula Kennedy Melin Homes 

Hazel Clatworthy Monmouthshire County Council 

Peter Fox Monmouthshire County Council 

Sarah Aitken Public Health Wales 

Matthew Gatehouse Monmouthshire County Council 

Catherine King Aneurin Bevan University Health Board 

Chris Edmondson Community Member 

Jeff Cuthbert Office of Police & Crime Commissioner 

Martin Swain Welsh Government 

Martin Featherstone GAVO 

Lyn Webber Office of Police & Crime Commissioner 

Sophie Howe Office of Future Generations Commissioner 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

1. Welcome and apologies 

PM welcomed everyone to the meeting. 

2. Minutes of the last meeting (8th February 2017) & Matters Arising 

No issues or matters arising were raised from the minutes of the previous meeting. 

3. Sophie Howe – Future Generations Commissioner 

Sophie Howe was unable to attend the meeting.  Apologies were received. 

4. Wellbeing Plan & Next Steps 

MG provided some context to the group, explaining the extensive engagement exercise that was 

undertaken as part of the Wellbeing Assessment which was signed off in the summer. 

In the subsequent months, work has been done around the Wellbeing Objectives and thought has 

gone into identify the steps needed for the PSB to sign up to in the future.  A workshop was held in 

Cwrt Bleddyn which was well attended by partners, industry experts as well as Town and Community 

Councils – with the opportunity to discuss some of the things that public services should be working 

on in the future. 

The formal 12 week consultation is now needed, where things may change if more evidence 

emerges or if suggestions are made that could make a difference. 

MG asked whether the PSB thought the Objectives remain the right ones.  Are the steps listed under 

the Objectives correct?  If the draft Plan is signed off, we are entering the next phase of the work 

that is all about putting the actions into place. 

SL talked to her paper around the next steps for the PSB.  Conscious that the involvement and 

collaboration is not limited to those partners sat in the room – bodies such as the Town and 

Community Councils and others need to be involved and to feel ownership on the Plan.  It’s about 

having the balance of making real change at a strategic level but it needs to be tangible at a 

community level. 

CK commented that it’s looking great, and asked whether advice from the Future Generations 

Commissioner has been considered in the final draft?   

MG responded that we have had a 13 week consultation period with the office of the Commissioner, 

and was pretty happy that the issues have been taken into account.  There is a good dialogue 

between us, and they (FG Commissioner’s Office) have said that some of the feedback is for the 

longer term and doesn’t need to be immediately address in the plan.  The points we could address 

have been captured but there are a number we need to improve – with future trends being a good 

example, where funding has been commissioned at a Gwent level to access that level of knowledge 

we are not expert in.   

HC added that the steer we are getting is that they are not interested in the minutia of things, but of 

how the PSB can work differently and how the objectives we chose can be evidenced – although we 

can really benefit from the signposting Sophie Howe has done in her feedback. 

Page 14



 

3 
 

SA commented that it’s a really good plan and likes the simplicity of the box providing the clear 

ambition.  Adding that it’s an ambitious and achievable response. 

NW stated that the plan represents the County well, but the next steps around consultation is done 

in a way that engages the population, making use of social media elements.  Post sign-off the focus 

needs to be on the doing, for the Plan not to become a dry document. 

CE suggested having some examples/case studies of what we are going to be doing in order to make 

the discussion more open.  The idea of an independent chair of the PSB, and independent chairs of 

working groups from the community might give the using of the plan quite a lot of credibility.  There 

is a lot of content around poverty – we should be pushing every employer in Monmouthshire to be 

living wage employers. 

SM said that the document is excellent and that the hardest part is the next stage of how we are 

going to do it.  We need to be selfish with our time at PSB to commit to getting the ‘how’ right.  With 

regards to the 3rd aspiration “Consider our impact on the environment”, SM asked that the wording 

is more firm than the ‘consider’ used. 

ACTION: Alter wording of aspiration. 

HJ commented that the plan is evidenced based and that a lot of work has gone into it – but is more 

interested in what happens next and the difference we make.  As an organisation SWFRS have 

engagement staff that could be made available to contribute. 

PK stated the need to work together and that the ethos is pushed down through the partner 

organisations – and that thinking outside the box is an important point, to try and come up with new 

solutions.  The Plan will only translate into outcome if we commit to that and change some of the 

behaviours. 

MG noted that the consultation is slightly different to last time, initial thoughts are to go out and 

about with a smaller number of events and to run some mini ‘moonshot’ sessions – a process used 

by Google to try and open the mindset in order to solve complex problems, rather than falling back 

to the same old solutions.  The session could also be open to others.  Further thought has gone into 

running a cohort through the Evolve process, which MCC has used recently – where people are 

brought together for a week to try and tackle the central issue. 

SA said that we need to be clear about who our audience is, and to get people who have been 

working in partnerships in the old way to get them thinking in a new way is important.  HC replied 

that the PSB, FG Commissioner and Welsh Government need to be able to relate to the plan as well 

as the public.  We will be looking to create visual ‘Plans on a Page’, to effectively summarise. 

PM stated that for him, its about community members and generating a willingness to participate 

and attaching to something.  We are about to get to the starting line and we should be excited and 

full of energy, and is confident we can do good things. 

HJ asked PM if it’s fair that the Plan is not owned by MCC but the PSB is leaning a lot on them.  PM 

replied that we are approaching the point of looking at that, we haven’t discussed in the past as it 

would have distracted us from the work. 

Page 15



 

4 
 

5. AOB 

HJ explained that SWFRS have a tragic history of Domestic Violence/Domestic Abuse (DV/DA), but 

3/4 years ago became White Ribbon accredited and each year a themed event to support the Not in 

My Name campaign.  This year, SWFRS are branding their vehicles with large stickers displaying the 

White Ribbon. 

PM asked whether any other partners are interested in doing something similar, as a PSB we need 

visibility and this can make a clear statement that public services are together on certain issues. 

PF encouraged others to embrace the suggestion, to be proactive on what the White Ribbon means 

– having the logo is one important message but we need to help people understand why. 

JW was happy to receive details and take part. 

-END- 

Action Responsible 

Alter the wording for the environmental 

aspiration, replacing the word ‘Consider’. 

MG 

PSB support staff to begin consultation 

workshops with partnerships to explore the 

challenges within each of the objectives in 

more detail  

SL & RJ  

 

Page 16



ACTION LIST 
MEETING OF MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

 
DATE OF MEETING  

 
AGENDA/MINUTE  

ITEM 
 

 
ACTION TO BE TAKEN 

 
TO BE ACTIONED BY 

 
PROGRESS 

14th December 2017 Minutes Contact MHA to ensure Cllr 
Batrouni is added as a 
member of the board. 
 

Nicola Perry Members’ Secretary have 
advised MHA of the update. 
 

 Action List Note the absence of action list 
and ensure this is followed up 
 
 

Nicola Perry Action List now available to all 
through the Hub.  Actions list to 
be updated and forwarded to all 
involved.  Officers able to 
update accordingly. 
 
Action List 
 

 Safeguarding Evaluative 
Report 

Chief Officer for CYP to 
provide a response regarding 
the outcomes of the Faithful & 
Gould asset survey of 
Chepstow School to Cllr Pavia 

Claire Marchant / Will 
McLean 

CYP officers from the 21st 
Century Schools team have 
been working with colleagues in 
property services and in 
Chepstow School. The initial 
and urgent work was to 
consider the safeguarding issue 
that was raised in the Faithful 
and Gould survey (2016).  One 
aspect related to a fencing issue 
and the other was concerned 
with the linkage between the 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 7

http://corphub/initiatives/DemServ/Actions%20from%20Meetings/Forms/AllItems.aspx


 
 

school and the leisure 
centre.  Both the fence and the 
linkages have now been 
addressed. 
 

 Update to Constitution Clarity requested around the 
amount of notice required to 
remotely attend a meeting.  To 
add ‘working’ days. 
 

Rob Tranter The constitution has been 
updated to include the 
proposed amendment 

 Motion from Cllr Batrouni To form a working group with 
Members to work with Cllr S. 
Jones on the issue of Period 
Poverty 
 

Cllr Jones Members emailed and invited to 
a meeting of the working group 
at 12:30m on January 10th 
2018. P

age 18



Page 1 

 

 
 
 

 
Subject: COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2018/19  
 
Meeting:      Council  
 
Date: 18th January 2018 
 

Divisions/Wards Affected: All 
 

 
1. PURPOSE: 
  
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 

 present arrangements for the implementation of the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and to approve it for 2018/19 

 

 affirm that, in the absence of any revisions or amendments, annual uprating 
amendments will be carried out each year without a requirement to adopt the 
whole Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
  
2.1 To note the making of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Prescribed 

Requirements (Wales) Regulations ("the Prescribed Requirements Regulations") 
2013 by the Welsh Government on 26 November 2013. 

 
2.2 To adopt the provisions within the Regulations above ("the Prescribed Requirements 

Regulations") and any ‘annual uprating regulations’ in respect of its Scheme for the 
financial year 2018/19 including the discretionary elements previously approved as 
the Council’s local scheme from 1st April 2018.   

 
3. KEY ISSUES: 

 
3.1 On 19th January 2016 Council adopted the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 

2016/17, in accordance with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes and Prescribed 
Requirements (Wales) Regulations 2013. 

 
3.2 The Regulations approved by the Assembly are available as follows: 
 

The Default Scheme 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/3035/contents/made 

 
The Prescribed Scheme  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/3029/contents/made 

 
The Amendment Regulations were approved by the National Assembly on 9th 

January 2018 incorporating the uprated benefits from April 2018  
http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=20675 
 

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 8a

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/3035/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/3029/contents/made
http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=20675


Page 2 

3.3 A failure to adopt a ‘local’ scheme by 31 January 2018 will result in the Default 
Scheme being imposed on the Council. 

 
3.4 The Welsh Government’s regulations for 2018/19 do not contain any significant 

changes for recipients of Council Tax reduction.  Claimants can receive a reduction 
up to 100% of their Council Tax bill dependent upon their income and household 
circumstances. 

 
3.5 Annual uprating regulations to increase benefits and personal allowances from April 

2018 within the Council Tax Reduction Scheme has been considered by a plenary 
session of the Senedd of the National Assembly for Wales on 9th January 2018.   

 
4. Background  
  
4.1  It was reported to Council on 28th January 2013 that the Welfare Reform Act 2013 

included provisions to abolish Council Tax Benefit on 31 March 2013.  From 1 April 
2013, the responsibility for arranging support towards paying Council Tax and the 
associated funding transferred from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to 
local authorities in England, and to the Scottish and Welsh Governments. The UK 
Government's policy intention was to reduce expenditure on Council Tax and 
therefore to implement a 10 per cent funding cut. 

 
4.2  The report to Council on 28th January 2013 referred to the Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme Regulations 2012 and the amending regulations 2013.  Those regulations 
were for implementation during the 2013/14 financial year only and Council resolved 
to adopt a new scheme for subsequent years in accordance with new regulations 
approved by the Welsh Government. 

 
4.3 The regulations for Council Tax Reduction include provision for support up to 100% 

of council tax.  As noted when presenting this issue in January, the regulations 
control the implementation of reduction schemes across the whole of Wales and are 
designed to ensure that each local authority consistently provides support for Welsh 
taxpayers. 

  
5. The Reduction Scheme and discretionary areas 
  
5.1  Although a national scheme has been approved, within the Prescribed Requirements 

Regulations there is limited discretion given to the Council to apply additional 
discretionary elements that are more generous than the national scheme and which 
provide for additional administrative flexibility.  Council approved the discretionary 
areas to be applied (listed in 5.2) following public consultation.  It is not proposed to 
change them in any way therefore no further consultation is required at this stage.     

 
5.2  It is recommended to adopt the Scheme in the Prescribed Requirement Regulations 

(as per paragraph 3.3 the regulations can be accessed via the link: - 
http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-business-fourth-assembly-laid-
docs.htm?act=dis&id=251458&ds=12/2013) and to exercise the previously approved 
discretions as follows: 

 

 The ability to increase the standard extended reduction period of 4 weeks given 
to persons after they return to work where they have previously been receiving a 
council tax reduction that is to end as a result of their return to work - it is not 
recommended to increase the standard extended reduction period; 
 

 Discretion to increase the amount of War Disablement Pensions and War 
Widows Pensions which is to be disregarded when calculating income of the 
claimant - it is recommended to disregard the whole amount of War Disablement 
Pensions and War Widows Pensions; 

 

Page 20

http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-business-fourth-assembly-laid-docs.htm?act=dis&id=251458&ds=12/2013
http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-business-fourth-assembly-laid-docs.htm?act=dis&id=251458&ds=12/2013


Page 3 

 The ability to backdate the application of council tax reduction with regard to late 
claims prior to the new standard period of three months before the claim - it is not 
recommended to increase the backdated period; 

 

 To provide above the minimum level of information to customers in order to 
ensure they are appropriately notified of their award in accordance with 
legislation - it is recommended that we maintain the current standard provision. 

 
These discretions were approved by Council on 19th January 2016. 

 
5.3  There are no additional monies available from the Welsh Government to fund 

discretionary elements but they are allowed for within our existing budget. 
 
5.4  Changes to pensions, benefits and allowances normally take effect every April and 

sometimes during the year. The scheme has to reflect the changes to benefits in 
order to adjust calculations of entitlement. This is part of normal Benefits 
administration. We are advised that the Council need to approve the annual uprating 
regulations each year without formal adoption of the whole scheme. 

 
5.5 As the uprating of benefits is not an area of discretion the Council is not able to 

consult on it. 

  
6 OPTIONS APPRAISAL  
 

This is not applicable as there are no changes to the scheme that is currently in 
place.  The report has been presented as the uprating regulations are effectively 
amendments to the main scheme, for which we need to obtain overall approval. 

 
7 EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

The scheme is largely prescribed by Welsh Government.  Previous annual reports, 
from 2013 to 2017, have reaffirmed the minimal discretions that the Authority can 
apply.  These discretions have been found to be resilient and fair.   

 
8 REASONS 
 
8.1 To agree the council tax reduction scheme for the forthcoming financial year as 

required by legislation. 
 
8.2 To affirm the annual uprating prescribed by the Welsh Government 
 
9.  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  From 2014/15 onwards the Council Tax Reduction Scheme was funded through 

RSG.  The Council therefore need to manage the cost of the Scheme within its 
annual budget.   

 
9.2 Any additional costs for growth in caseload and/or increases in entitlement 

attributable to a rise in the overall level of Council Tax have to be managed and are 
built into our budget proposals for 2018/19.  
 

9.3 The provisional budget allocation, for 2018/19, of £6,277,609 is based on a 3.95% 
increase in Council Tax.  The budget also reflects an anticipated ongoing fall in 
demand which has released £100,000 savings to the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
Any subsequent changes in the council tax increase will be reflected in the final 
budget proposal report.   

 

Page 21



Page 4 

10.  WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 
EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE 
PARENTING): 

  
10.1  There are no implications for sustainability, safeguarding and corporate parenting. 
 
10.2 The scheme to be applied for 2018/19 does not contain any significant changes from 

the scheme which is currently operational. 
  
10.3  The Welsh Government has undertaken a detailed ‘regulatory’ impact assessment, 

which includes equality impact assessment, but we understand that the findings 
reported were in line with their expectations. 

 
10.4 Our Sustainability Community Officer has confirmed that under these circumstances 

there is no requirement to complete a Future Generations Evaluation. 
 
11. CONSULTEES: 
 

Cabinet 
 Strategic Leadership Team 

Head of Finance 
Head of Legal 
 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS:   
 

None 
 

13. AUTHORS: 
 
 Ruth Donovan – Assistant Head of Finance: Revenues, Systems and Exchequer  
 
 Richard Davies – Head of Benefits (Monmouthshire) 
 
14. CONTACT DETAILS: 
 
 Email: ruthdonovan@monmouthsire.gov.uk  
 Tel: 01633 644592 

 
Email: richard.davies@torfaen.gov.uk 

Tel: 01495 742358 
 

Page 22

mailto:ruthdonovan@monmouthsire.gov.uk
mailto:richard.davies@torfaen.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

1.0 To present a draft Monmouthshire County Council response to the Aneurin Bevan University 

Health Board (ABUHB) consultation Redesigning Mental Health Services for Older People 

for approval and submission to ABUHB to meet the deadline for consultation responses 

which is 26th January 2018.   

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

2.1 That Council endorse the attached draft consultation response (Appendix A) for submission 

to ABUHB. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES 

3.1 ABUHB approved recommendations at its Board meeting on 27th September 2017 to enter 

into formal public consultation a preferred option for the redesign of older adult mental health 

services. 

3.2 The public consultation process was agreed between ABUHB and the Community Health 

Council to run between November 2017 and January 2018. 

3.3 The ABUHB consultation document is included as Appendix B to this paper. The 

consultation sets out a vision for older adult mental health services and describes the 

challenges faced by the Health Board in recruiting a registered mental health nursing 

workforce to safely provide quality inpatient services. The consultation advises of urgent 

changes to services that were made in January 2016 to ensure that safe services could be 

provided. The consultation then sets out and appraises a number of options for future 

service provision. There is a preferred option described in the paper, to consolidate the 

number of older adult mental health wards, to 3 dementia wards and 1 functional mental 

health ward. This option would mean that dementia inpatient services would no longer be 

provided from St Pierre Services at Chepstow Community Hospital. This would mean that 

people from Monmouthshire requiring this service would access either St Woolos Hospital 

or Ysbyty Tri Chwm Hospital in Ebbw Vale.  

3.4 Monmouthshire County Council Members have actively engaged in the ABUHB consultation 

process. In addition to an all Member seminar, there have a number of public engagement 

meetings well attended by Councilors. At the all Member seminar, and in public meetings, a 

number of concerns have been raised regarding the consultation proposals, the lack of 

consideration in the options appraisal to Monmouthshire’s demographics – current and 

projected- and prevalence of mental ill health. Concerns have also been consistently raised 

SUBJECT: ANEURIN BEVAN UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD – REDESIGNING 

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR OLDER PEOPLE – DRAFT 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

MEETING:  COUNCIL  

DATE:  18TH JANUARY 2018 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:ALL 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



regarding transport and access issues, the impact on carers, lack of detail around 

investment in enhanced community services and the impact of service withdrawal on the 

viability of Chepstow Community Hospital. These concerns mean the consultation response 

is not supportive of the preferred option. It is proposed that Council expresses a view that a 

more robust option appraisal is undertaken considers fully all relevant information, and puts 

in place a plan for quality older adult mental health services – community and inpatient- 

which meet the needs of current and future generations. 

3.5 Notwithstanding the consultation response, it is important to emphasise the absolute 

commitment of Monmouthshire County Council to work in partnership to deliver integrated 

health and social care services. The commitment of the Health Board to a positive future for 

Chepstow Community Hospital, and the work being taken forward to plan for service 

provision in South Monmouthshire through the group co-chaired by the Chief Operating 

Officer, ABUHB and the Chief Officer, Social Care and Health, Monmouthshire County 

Council is welcome. To instill confidence, it needs to deliver detail of how primary and 

community health, social care and wellbeing services will be enhanced, making best use of 

the hospital and other physical assets. 

4. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

4.1  No option appraisal is included in this report as this is a response to a ABUHB consultation 

which itself includes an options appraisal. The robustness of evidence used to undertake 

that option appraisal is questioned in this consultation response. 

 

5. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

5.1 No evaluation criteria are included in this report as it is a response to an ABUHB 

consultation. The consultation response does highlight the need for clear evaluative 

measures understanding the impact of the change proposed.  

 

6. REASONS: 

6.1  The reason for this paper is to provide an effective consultation response to the ABUHB 

consultation on the Redesigning Mental Health Services for Older People 

 

7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

7.1 This consultation response has no direct resource implication to the Council.  The response 

does request firm commitment from ABUHB that savings realised from the realignment of 

inpatient services are ringfenced for reinvestment in older adult mental health services and 

that the priorities for this investment should meet current and future needs. 

 

8. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 

EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

8.1 As this is a consultation response to a change proposal from another public body no 
equalities impact assessment has been undertaken by Monmouthshire County Council. The 
consultation response expresses disappointment at the lack of availability of an impact 
assessment to scrutinise during the consultation process, and stresses the need for this to 
be central to the Board’s decision on this matter. 

 

9. CONSULTEES: 

Senior Leadership Team 

Cabinet 

Page 24



All Member’s Seminar – The views expressed in the all Member seminar form the 

substance of the consultation response. 

Adult Select Committee – 10th January 2017 - Having carefully scrutinised the draft response 

to the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (ABUHB) consultation Redesigning Mental 

Health Services for Older People, Adult Select Committee firmly support Option 1 as the 

preferred option due to the reasons outlined below: 

- Challenging transport issues in the County’s rural areas will present significant 

problems and detriment to older people. 

- The process undertaken to reach the decision on options did not sufficiently involve the 

County Council. 

- Previous scrutiny of older person’s care needs resulted in the following 

recommendation for a longer term model: “As a committee, we are in agreement with 

the principle that the Council should take a lead in providing a future long-term 

sustainable care model for Monmouthshire. Given the success of the Raglan Project, 

we understand the advantages of the Council providing care facilities to ensure a high 

quality service. We recognise that our primary objective remains to support people to 

live independently for as long as possible, but that a range of services will be needed 

to support future complex care needs such as dementia, given the increasing ageing 

population.” [Adults Select Committee: 30th October, 2017]. 

As such, bearing in mind the above remarks, the Committee were strongly of the opinion 

that a poor decision would be made and outcomes could not be supported if the Health 

Board’s preferred option were implemented. 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

Draft Consultation Response (Appendix A) 

ABUHB Consultation Document Redesigning Mental Health Services for Older People 

(Appendix B) 

 

 

 

Page 25



 

Page 26



 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

1 
 

DRAFT Response to Aneurin Bevan University Health Board Consultation – Redesigning 

Mental Health Services for Older People 

The consultation into the future of Older Adult Mental Health Services by Aneurin Bevan 

University Health Board presents some considerable challenges for Monmouthshire County 

Council. 

The Council absolutely supports the commitment of the Health Board to patient safety and 

quality of care. This is especially important when caring for some of our most vulnerable 

citizens – older people with mental ill health. We also recognise the challenges facing the 

Health Board: of recruiting a suitably qualified registered workforce against a backdrop of 

what appears to be sub-optimal workforce planning over a number of years by the NHS 

nationally. We also support the vision of the Health Board for older adult mental health 

services – to enhance community mental health services, particularly to ‘’provide more 

services closer to where people live’’. We also would like to express our sincere thanks to 

officers of the Health Board who attended an all Member seminar on 16th November, 

presented detailed background to the proposals and responded to questions from Council 

Members.  

We cannot, however, support as a Council the preferred option for the future of older adult 

mental health services as set out in the consultation document. The Council approved 2 

motions (appendix 1) on 9th November 2017 expressing our concerns at the consultation in 

light of the demographic challenges facing our County. Our duty as a Council is to secure the 

best possible configuration of health services and outcomes to meet the needs of the people 

of Monmouthshire. We cannot see evidence in the preferred option within the consultation 

that this is the best outcome for our citizens. Indeed we are concerned if implemented that it 

will have a detrimental impact on older adults with mental ill health, their carers and wider 

services in Monmouthshire.  Our concerns are around both the impact on current, and future 

generations.  

Our concerns regarding the consultation proposals and the preferred option are as follows: 

1. The demographic challenges of a high proportion of older people in Monmouthshire are 

not considered.  The proportion of people aged over 65, 75 and 85 are higher in 

Monmouthshire than in other Gwent counties set out in table 1 

County % over 65s % age 65-74 % age 75-84 % age over 85 

Caerphilly 18.83 10.95 5.92 1.95 

Blaenau Gwent 19.75 11.29 6.29 2.17 

Torfaen 20.07 11.13 6.4 2.54 

Monmouthshire  24.22 13.39 7.58 3.24 

Newport 17.4 9.5 5.71 2.2 

Percentage of Population by Age – StatsWales – Mid-year 2016 Population Estimates 

 

 

Page 29



APPENDIX A 

2 
 

In addition, the number of over 85s in Monmouthshire are projected to rise by 185% by 2039.  

As the consultation states, the number of older people with dementia in Gwent will have 

increased by approximately 11,000 by 2013. It is clear that there will already be a higher 

proportion of people with dementia in Monmouthshire than other parts of Gwent, and the 

numbers in our County compared with the rest of the region will continue to be 

proportionately higher. This is not taking into account the expansion of the population in the 

south of the County.  

Nowhere does the consultation document consider the proportion of older people, and 

prevalence of dementia, as a significant factor in option appraisal. Our view as a Council is 

that this means the option appraisal is significantly flawed in considering how best to meet 

current and future needs.  

2. The considerable challenges of access to services and transport within a rural county are 

not taken into account with the consultation. There is no mitigation offered as to how the 

increased travel time for Monmouthshire carers will be addressed by the Heath Board. It is 

unclear whether travel times have been analysed and informed the options appraisal, 

although an increase in travel time is highlighted as potentially negative impact. It is unclear 

from the consultation where people from Monmouth and central Monmouthshire will access 

services. Without evidence of proper consideration of accessibility issues, we again consider 

the option appraisal to be flawed and the conclusions can-not be supported. Carers will 

frequently be old and vulnerable and the consequences of the change will be further travel, 

over greater distances, compounded by poor public transport and challenges around car 

parking.  The preferred option will mean visiting loved ones will be unrealistic for many 

Monmouthshire carers. We would hope the Health Board can make real terms commitment 

to enhanced carer support as a tangible enhancement to the whole older adult mental health 

service offer. The impact on carers of caring for someone with dementia is considerable and 

investing in carer wellbeing and support 

3. Whilst recognising this is a consultation into the future of older adult mental health 

inpatient services the viability of Chepstow Community Hospital as a vibrant community 

hospital is threatened, as the preferred option would represent withdrawal of another 

important services. Chepstow hospital is a fantastic facility, but the potential for the hospital 

to reduce pressures on acute services is not being realised. The withdrawal of minor injury 

services was a blow to the south of the county. Further service reductions, unless there are 

balanced by firm commitments from the Health Board to expand other services, will severely 

undermine the confidence of the local population, in the Health Board’s commitment to 

services in Chepstow. A really positively articulated purpose for the hospital, and community 

services, and expanded range of services that can safely be provided is imperative to restore 

confidence and meet the needs of people for services such as outpatients and diagnostics 

which should not require an appointment at the Royal Gwent Hospital. 

4. Investment of savings realised through Older Adult Mental service configuration should 

be ring-fenced for reinvestment in community mental health services and services for 

carers. We ask for a firm commitment from the Health Board to this effect. We note that the 

Page 30



APPENDIX A 

3 
 

Board paper which was approved giving approval to consult, highlighted ‘an opportunity to 

reinvestment in other service priorities within Older Adult Mental Health’. If the proposed 

changes are genuinely focussed on improving quality of care and better outcomes for 

patients, then financially supporting improved integrated community services is an important 

commitment and the detail of where that investment will be directed, and for us, how it will 

impact on Monmouthshire is a critical issue which we will continue to ask for assurances on. 

5. There is no meaningful articulation of where older adult mental health inpatient services 

sit within the overall pathway for mental health. We have an overarching concern with 

regard the proposals – they seem to be entirely driven by the workforce challenges, rather 

than service improvement. There is no substance by which we can understand what is meant 

be increasing and strengthening community services in Monmouthshire. Monmouthshire is a 

county which has responded positively to the increasing needs of our population for dementia 

care – the Council’s care at home service which provides high quality dementia care has won 

accolades for the way it delivers person centred care, based on strong relationships. There is 

a business case under development for the provision of a leading edge specialist dementia 

care home at Crick Road. We need to understand that the Health Board is committed to 

developing, delivering and investing in integrated community pathways to have confidence 

in the substance behind the commitments. Without detail the proposed changes to older 

adult mental health services seem reactive and short term.  Clear measures of what the 

changes will achieve should be fundamental in any proposal for significant change. 

6. Equality impact assessment – We are concerned that there is no equality impact 

assessment available either as part of the Board paper or are the consultation document.  We 

note that one is in development, and issues of travel and access are likely to be substantive. 

We also consider that the equality impact assessment should meaningful address the 

differential demographic impact described earlier in this response. Given the potentially 

negative impacts on vulnerable older people this is a critical consideration we would have 

wished to scrutinise and comment on in formulating this response. 

7. Limited evidence of integrated working – Underpinning many of our concerns as a Council 

is the lack of integrated planning evident for older adult mental health services and people 

with dementia particularly. As a Council, we were not involved in the initial option appraisal. 

Our overarching view is that the proposals appear a ‘quick fix’ to an immediate problem – 

there is no evidence of whole system planning to meet the needs – inside and outside the 

hospital - of our ageing population. This is our collective responsibility as a Local Authority 

with you as a Health Board. Genuine co-production and effective engagement with our 

communities is an essential part of effective planning. We ask that you commit senior officer 

resource to doing this work with us, and with our communities, in a meaningful way. The 

outcome we seek is a Monmouthshire Older Adult Mental Health Strategy and 

Implementation plan which includes: preventative and wellbeing approaches, carer support 

and respite, day opportunities and care at home, state of the art edge residential provision 

and high quality in-patient provision. We would also welcome working together to address 

our collective workforce challenges which clearly are a key driver in the urgency of service 

change proposals. Any permanent changes to service configuration should only progress 

Page 31



APPENDIX A 

4 
 

when this whole system strategy has been designed. In- patient provision would then clearly 

be designed in the context of the whole pathway.    

To conclude, as stated at the outset, we understand the considerable challenges which the 

Health Board faces in providing services against a backdrop of scarcity of workforce. We have 

always worked closely and productively in partnership with the Health Board, and have been 

at the fore of developing innovative and creative integrated services to address the needs of 

our populations. It is a disappointing position for us to find ourselves in as a Council, to have 

to respond negatively to a formal consultation. We hope that we can learn from this position 

we find our organisations in and ensure we properly engage and plan together around our 

most significant services going forward. Our concerns are that the option appraisal itself 

appears significantly flawed and was not developed in partnership with us. Whilst it is 

heartening to hear about the commitment to improving out of hospital provision, we are 

struggling to understand what this enhancement will look like and to understand in granular 

terms what the detail of investment will look like and how it will benefit Monmouthshire. As 

a partner public body we understand the necessity for any significant change to model the 

impact on current and future generations and we can-not see that this has been meaningfully 

appraised in this set of proposals.  

Our response, whilst negative to these particular proposals, also represents a continued 

commitment to integrated working, and effective partnership and we welcome the 

opportunity to develop and shape an alternative set of proposals with you. As a consequence 

of the substantial issues raised in this response we would proposed that: 

- The Health Board continues to work to the current configuration of in-patient services 

described in option 1 in the consultation paper for the foreseeable future. This option 

provides the best geographical spread of services across the Gwent region; 

- The Health Board commits to developing an integrated whole system over adult 

mental health strategy and implementation plan for Monmouthshire which is co-

produced with our communities. We ask the Health Board to commit that no 

permanent service changes will be implemented until this work has been completed.  

  

Page 32



APPENDIX A 

5 
 

Motion from County Councillor Easson: 
 
The Aneurin Bevan University Health Board has started consultations regarding the future of 
Adult Services across Gwent. The suggestion is to centralise dementia care to hospitals in 
Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Newport and a unit in Torfaen; after the Grange Hospital is 
commissioned in 2021. 

This would suggest the closure of St Pierre Ward at Chepstow Hospital which is currently 
employed for dementia care. Support for dementia care in the north of Monmouthshire would 
be at Ysbyty Tri Cwm Hospital in Ebbw Vale and from the south at St Woolos in Newport. I 
move that this Council works in conjunction with ABUHB and the ABCHC to find positive and 
futuristic ways of removing this threat to Chepstow Hospital which has 10 years of the PFI 
initiative to complete the contract, and that the use of this facility should be enhanced not 
reduced.” 
 
Motion from County Councillor Pavia: 
 
Monmouthshire County Council understands the demographic challenges the county faces 
over the coming decades. It recognises that the increase in older people will inevitably place 
more demands on our health and social care system, as an ageing population is more likely 
to have at least one and often multiple chronic conditions like dementia. Therefore, it is 
concerned by Aneurin Bevan University Health Board’s proposals to redesign older adult 
mental health services, which could potentially mean the closure of the St. Pierre dementia 
ward in Chepstow Hospital and the transfer of patients to Ysbyty Tri Chwm in Ebbw Vale and 
to St. Woolas in Newport. 
 
It calls upon Aneurin Bevan University Health Board to: 
 
1. Enter into ‘robust’ and ‘meaningful’ engagement with patients, stakeholders and local 
communities in Monmouthshire, regarding its redesign proposals and listen to appropriate 
concerns that any transfer of care outside of the county will naturally generate; 
 
2. Regularly meet with the Cabinet Member responsible for Social Care, Safeguarding and 
Health and senior officers, to explore new, coproduced and sustainable models of care for 
older adults with mental ill health, as part of the Council’s overarching strategic plan to 
deliver quality integrated social care right across the county. 

 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
REDESIGNING MENTAL HEALTH 

SERVICES FOR OLDER PEOPLE  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT  

  
NOVEMBER 2017 – JANUARY 2018 

 

Page 35



 2 

CONTENTS 

 
 Page  

1 Purpose 

 

3 

2 Mental Health Services For Older 

People In Gwent 

 

4 

3 What Have People Told Us Is 

Important? 

 

5 

4 Future Vision   

 

6 

5 Current Challenges 

 

 

7 

6 Options For Change 

 

8 

7 Preferred Option 

 

11 

8 Listening To You   

 

14 

9 What Happens Next ?  16 

   

 Questionnaire  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 36



 3 

1. PURPOSE  

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board wishes to consult with people 

living or using services in Gwent on the future shape of services for older 

adults with a mental health need.  This paper provides information to 

people who want to take part in the consultation process.   

 

We have been talking to people for some time about what they believe to 

be important in the design of older adult mental health services.  It is the 

ideas that have emerged through this process that we are now consulting 

on.  Specifically: 

 

The re-development of mental health services for older adults 

with a preferred option of enhancing community based services 

and consolidating in-patient provision to a smaller number of 

centres of excellence. 

 

You can contribute to the consultation by using the questionnaire at the 

end of this document.  You may also wish to offer a more detailed 

response and can do so through the following arrangements:  

 

E-mail: OAMHEngagement.abb@wales.nhs.uk 

 

Address:  Ms Sara Kay-Green,  

  Administration Officer,  

  First Access Building,  

  County Hospital,  

  Coed-y-Gric Road,  

  Griffithstown,   

  Pontypool,  

  Torfaen  

  NP4 5YA. 

 

There will also be a series of consultation events that you may wish to 

attend.  

   

For your views to be considered as part of the consultation, there is a final 

date for submission of 26th January 2018. 

 

Page 37

mailto:OAMHEngagement.abb@wales.nhs.uk


 4 

2. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR OLDER 

 PEOPLE IN GWENT  

2.1  Defining Older Adult Mental Health 

 

Within Wales, we know that people are living longer and that in twenty 

years time one in four people will be over 65 years of age. The numbers 

of people aged over 85 will more than double in the next twenty years. 

 

Dementia is more common as people grow older and currently affects 1 in 

every 14 people over 65 years of age. The likelihood of being affected by 

dementia increases as you grow older. Within the UK an estimated 

750,000 people suffer from dementia and the number is projected to rise 

to over 1 million people within the next 10 years. In Gwent it is estimated 

that by 2035 over 11,000 people will have some form of dementia 

compared to around 7,500 in 2015. Medically, dementia is sometimes 

known as an ‘organic’ illness. 

 

Older people can also experience mental health difficulties in the same 

way as younger people. Examples of these are anxiety, depression and 

schizophrenia. These are sometimes known as ‘functional’ mental 

illnesses.  

 

2.2 How are older adult mental health services currently 

 organised? 

  

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board provides a range of health services 

for older people with both organic and functional mental illness.  Services 

are provided to people who live in Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, 

Monmouthshire, Newport and Torfaen.  We cannot do this alone and 

therefore, staff in our services work very closely with GPs, other parts of 

the health service, social services, housing and voluntary organisations. 

 

Most mental health services are provided locally by staff working as part 

of teams based in the community and include doctors, nurses, 

psychologists, occupational therapists and social workers. They provide a 

range of services to help to support people living at home or in the 

community. 

 

Page 38



 5 

Each borough also has specialist memory assessment services that 

provide access to specialist assessment, diagnosis and treatment for 

individuals with memory loss or dementia. 

 

A smaller number of people may need admission to hospital for specialist 

assessment or treatment of their mental health condition and we have a 

number of hospital wards at different locations across the Health Board 

for this purpose. 

 

In addition we also have a specialist psychiatric liaison service that works 

within the Royal Gwent, Nevill Hall and Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospitals and 

our other general hospitals to offer specialist assessment and intervention 

for people identified as having mental health needs while being treated 

for other physical illnesses. 

 

Within Gwent: 

 

 16,000 visits are made by the Community Mental Health Team per 

year.  

 8,000 people visit Memory Assessment Clinics per year. 

 Approximately 400 people spend time on an older adult mental health 

ward each year.  

 2,700 people with mental health needs are seen within a hospital 

setting by the psychiatric liaison service, each year.  

 

 

3. WHAT HAVE PEOPLE TOLD US IS 

 IMPORTANT ?  

Asking people what they think is really important to the Health Board.  

Earlier this year we spoke to many people through a range of public and 

staff engagement meetings to find out their ideas and priorities for older 

adult mental health services in Gwent.   

 

We held twelve public road shows and six staff events to gather people’s 

views on what was important to them. The themes that came from that 

work showed that people want to have care and support in their 

community, as close to their home and family as possible,  and only want 

to come into hospital when really necessary.  Specifically they asked: 

 

Page 39



 6 

 To be seen by the same people with the right skills and experience 

(Right People) 

 For services to be available in the right place when they needed to 

access them (Right Place) 

 To have services and people working together when planning and 

delivering care with good communication between everyone 

involved in providing support (Right Thing) 

 To have confidence that services are safe and sustainable and fit to 

meet future challenges (Right Future) 

We used the information from the meetings to hold two workshops with 

patients, carers, staff, local authority representatives and the community 

health council to give some thought to how services could be designed in 

the future to deliver these aspirations.  

 

4. FUTURE VISION  

 

 Provide the most appropriate and best possible care, treatment and 

support to older people with mental health problems.  To do this we 

want to attract and retain the best staff possible and ensure that 

our services are fit for the future. 

 

 Provide more services closer to where people live, and have strong 

community teams supporting people to remain independent for as 

long as possible in their homes and community.  We want our 

hospital wards to only be used when really necessary and to 

develop them to be Centres of Excellence for the people using 

them.  

Our aims are to:  

 Help support the development of Dementia friendly communities. 

 Support people to make healthy life choices that may reduce the 

risk of mental illness in older age. 

 Help people stay independent for as long as possible; to ensure  

community teams, memory assessment services and other 

community based services provide fast and responsive assessment, 

treatment and care in the community when it is needed. 

 Provide the best possible environments and expertise for all people 

who need to have a hospital stay and to develop all wards as 

Centres of Excellence. 

Page 40



 7 

 Provide services that are focused on delivering the best possible 

outcomes for all people. 

 Support people with the right staff, with the right skills, in the right 

place, at the right time both now and into the future. 

To do this, we want to:  

 Increase and further strengthen existing community services to 

make them stronger. 

 Offer better access to information, advice and assistance. 

 Improve access to specialist assessment within the community or 

where people live. 

 Reduce the overall number of hospital beds in Gwent and the sites 

from where they are provided, creating separate specialist dementia 

friendly assessment wards and a single specialist functional 

assessment ward, all of which will be supported by highly 

specialised teams of staff.   

 Change how we use our staff and money (our resources) to deliver 

the vision. 

Achieving this vision will help us make our services sustainable into the 

future and address a number of our more immediate challenges.    

 

 

5. CURRENT CHALLENGES    

Whilst we receive good feedback about the care we provide, there are a 

number of challenges that older adult mental health services are facing at 

the current time.  

 

Like other similar services in Wales, we have difficulty in recruiting all of 

the staff we need to provide the high standards of care we would like. We 

have particular difficulty in recruiting some doctors and nurses to work on 

our hospital wards and often have to rely on staff working extra hours or 

bringing in temporary staff (provided through nursing and locum doctor 

agencies). This means that we cannot always provide the same staff on 

the wards to look after patients. Our wards are spread across multiple 

hospital sites throughout the Gwent areas and we are increasingly facing 

difficulties in recruiting the number of staff to meet the requirement of 

providing care in all these wards. 

 

 

Page 41



 8 

As a result of the changes in staff availability in the past few years we 

have already made changes to temporarily reduce the number of wards 

(and therefore beds) open. Specifically this has included the temporary 

closures of Willows Ward in Ysbyty’r Tri Chwm (Blaenau Gwent) and 

Tredegar Ward in St Woolos Hospital (Newport) as well as some other 

changes to the number and type of patients admitted to some other 

wards. 

 

Making these changes has allowed us to continue providing high quality, 

safe and more appropriate care both in the community and within our 

remaining wards in our hospitals.  It has also prompted a need for us to 

review the way our services are organised on a more permanent basis.   

 

 

6. OPTIONS FOR CHANGE 

 

The focus of our consultation is: 

 

The re-development of mental health services for older adults 

with a preferred option of enhancing community based services 

and consolidating in-patient provision to a smaller number of 

centres of excellence. 

 

 

It is important to remember that the vast majority of services for older 

people will be provided locally through Community Mental Health Teams 

and Memory Assessment Services. A specific piece of work is already 

being planned to explore how community services could look into the 

future.  This work will report within the next year.   

 
The most immediate challenge is to continue to provide good quality and 

safe services for individuals who are admitted for specialist assessment 

and treatment in hospital.   

 

Five different options are possible for the future delivery of in-patient 

services.  Individuals attending the workshops previously mentioned were 

asked to consider these options against what people had previously told 

us was important.  A summary of the five options, together with the list of 

potential strengths and weaknesses of each option is offered overleaf. 

Page 42



 9 

 Option 1:  Do nothing – Keep the way hospital services are currently  

 provided including the current temporary ward arrangements   

Strengths Weaknesses 

Minimal disruption to staff 

working arrangements  

Continues to result in staff shortages 

as staff are providing services across 

multiple locations  

Provides a broad geographical 

spread of wards across Gwent 

Will continue to rely on agency 

nursing and medical staff 

Ward teams have established 

relationships with current 

community services 

Unstable staffing situation remains 

and further closure of wards may be 

necessary in an emergency  

Provides separate dementia and 

functional wards 

Less resources available to improve 

community services and ward staffing 

 

Option 2:  Return to the number of wards/beds available before   

  January 2016 

Strengths Weaknesses 

Good geographical spread of wards 

across Gwent 

Unable to deliver as requires 

recruitment of an additional 24 

qualified nurses  

Provides separate dementia and 

functional wards 

Will continue to rely on agency 

medical staff 

 No resources freed to improve 

community services and ward staffing 

 

Option 3:  Change the number of wards to 3 wards for people with  

  Dementia and 1 ward for people with Functional illness (e.g. 

  depression, anxiety and schizophrenia) 

Strengths Weaknesses 

Enables development of inpatient 

Centres of Excellence  with 

enhanced staff support and 

concentration of staff expertise  

Increased travel time for a small 

number of patients and carers for 

admission to hospital 

Improved stability in workforce by 

further reducing demands for 

nurses within wards 

 

Provides separate dementia and 

functional wards  

 

Frees up more resources to re-

invest in improving community 

service and ward staffing 

 

Page 43



 10 

Option 4:  Reconfigure all existing wards to be mixed Dementia and  

  Functional wards 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 

Good geographical spread of 
functional and dementia beds 

Poor patient experience due to 
differing needs of patients being 

nursed in the same environment 

 Spreads nursing and medical 
resources more thinly across 5 

wards 

 Patient mix likely to increase 

recruitment problems 

 Liable to lead to reactive bed 
closures due to workforce retention 

and recruitment. 

 

 
Option 5:  Reconfigure all existing wards to be segregated gender 

specific wards 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 

Improves patient experience and 
dignity through separate male and 

female wards 

Increased numbers of patients will  
need to travel greater distances out 

of borough to access inpatient beds 

 Reduces flexibility for coping with 
variation in demand 

 No resources free to reinvest in 
community support 

 Spreads nursing and medical 

resources more thinly across 5 
wards 

 Liable to lead to reactive bed 
closures due to workforce retention 

and recruitment 

 

From the work undertaken through the public engagement and 

workshops, the preferred option that emerged was Option 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



 11 

7.  PREFERRED OPTION  

Consolidate the number of wards to 3 dementia wards and 1 

functional ward. This would reduce bed numbers from 72 down to 

67 beds overall and result in the closure of one additional ward.   

(Option 3) 

 

We believe this option would enable the inpatient service to become more 

stable and continue to offer a good quality service both now and in the 

future.  It would release more resources to develop in-patient wards into 

centres of excellence. It will also enable the further development and 

improvement of community services in Gwent. 

 

Consideration has also been given to where these wards would best be 

located. The following were considered in making this suggestion:  

 

 Where people currently access services 

 Transport links 

 Areas where it is difficult to attract and keep staff 

Based on the above, it is suggested that there should be:  

 

 one functional unit in Ty Siriol, County Hospital, (Pontypool)  

 three dementia assessment wards: 

o one sited in North Gwent at Ysbyty Tri Chwm Hospital, (Ebbw 

Vale),  

o one in South Gwent at St Woolos Hospital (Newport)  

o one in West Gwent at Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospital, (Ystrad 

Mynach).  

This option would result in the closure of St Pierre Ward in Chepstow 

Hospital.  We recognise that this will cause concern/alarm to the people 

who would normally access hospital services for mental health treatment 

and we would like to have a conversation with you/the local community to 

determine what community based services we will be providing and what 

actions we can take to make this change easier for you. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 12 

A summary of the current and proposed wards is shown below: 

 

Current Temporary Provision 

Service Number of Beds Type of Care 

Ysbyty’r Tri Chwm Hospital, 

Ebbw Vale 

13 Dementia and 

Functional care 

St Woolos Hospital, 

Newport 

14 Dementia care 

Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospital, 

Ystrad Mynach 

16 Dementia care 

Chepstow Hospital, 

Chepstow 

15 Dementia care 

County Hospital, 

Pontypool 

14 Functional care 

Total number of beds 72 

Proposed Provision 

Service Number of Beds Type of Care 

Ysbyty’r Tri Chwm Hospital, 

Ebbw Vale 

15 Dementia care 

St Woolos Hospital, 

Newport 

14 Dementia care 

Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospital, 

Ystrad Mynach 

18 Dementia care 

County Hospital, 

Pontypool 

20 Functional care 

Total number of beds 67 

 

We believe that organising services in this way would be the best option 

to deliver the range and volume of services that are required safely and 

sustainably into the future.  We also believe that the proposed sites offer 

the best configuration due to existing road links and public transport and 

would help people needing care and support access inpatient care in the 

most equitable way.  

 

This option would mean that a small number of patients with dementia 

and families/carers (around 30 per year) from South Monmouthshire 

would need to travel to Newport if they required a hospital stay (a similar 

journey made by people already to the Royal Gwent Hospital to access 

most specialist hospital inpatient care for physical illnesses), while a 

similar number of patients and families from North Monmouthshire would 

Page 46



 13 

need to travel to Ebbw Vale if they required a hospital stay (a similar 

travel time to that currently made to access Chepstow Hospital).  

 

It is important to remember that the vast majority of services for older 

people will be provided locally through Community Mental Health Teams 

and Memory Assessment Services. However, the diagram below shows 

how patients would access one of the wards if a stay in hospital for 

assessment or treatment is needed.  

 

 
Key: CMHT – Community Mental Health Team    MAS – Memory Assessment Service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



 14 

8. LISTENING TO YOU  

 

We have been actively listening to people throughout this process to date 

and through this consultation we are keen to continue to listen.  Your 

views really are important to us and we would be grateful if you would 

take the time to be part of this consultation.  The document you have 

read has set out our future vision for older adult mental health services 

and shared with you some options for the delivery of this, including a 

preferred option. It has also shared some current challenges in order to 

provide context for the considerations.      

 

You can let us have your comments by completing the attached 

questionnaire or by e-mailing us on OAMHEngagement.abb@wales.nhs.uk 

We have also arranged a number of consultation events that will support 

the consultation process and which we hope you will attend.  The details 

of these are given overleaf: 

 

Page 48

mailto:OAMHEngagement.abb@wales.nhs.uk


 15 

 
Please ensure that you let us know if you are coming along so that we can 

make all necessary arrangements to meet your needs via email 

OAMHEngagement.abb@wales.nhs.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Week Commencing 13/11/2017 Meeting/Venue 

Tuesday 14th November        10am-11.30am Public – South Monmouthshire 
Chepstow Leisure Centre, Chepstow,NP16 5LR 

Wednesday 15th November  10am-11.30am   Public – North Monmouthshire 
Shire Hall, Agincourt Sq, Monmouth,NP25 3EA 

Wednesday 15th November  2pm-3.30pm Public – North Monmouthshire 
Abergavenny Leisure Centre, Abergavenny 

Week Commencing 20/11/2017 Meeting/Venue 

Wednesday 22nd November  2pm-3.30pm Public – Abertillery 
Llanilleth Miners Institute, Meadow St, 
Abertillery,NP13 2JH 

Thursday 23rd November  10am-11.30am   Public – Ebbw Vale 
Leisure Centre, Lime Ave, Ebbw Vale, NP23 6GL 

Week Commencing 27/11/2017 Meeting/Venue 

Wednesday 29th November  10am-11.30am   Public – East Newport 
Lysaghts Institute, Corporation Road, Newport, 
NP19 0HE 

Wednesday 29th November  2pm-3.30pm Public – West Newport 
Christchurch Centre, Malpas Road, Newport, NP20 
5PP 

Thursday 30th November  2pm-3.30pm Public – Central Newport 
Riverfront, Kingsway, Newport, NP20 1HG 

Week Commencing 04/12/2017 Meeting/Venue 

Tuesday 5th December        10am-11.30am   Public – South Torfaen 
The Olive Tree, Cwmbran, NP44 2JJ 

Thursday 7th December  10am-11.30am   Public – South Torfaen 
Pontypool Leisure Centre, Pontypool,NP4 8AT 

Week Commencing 11/12/2017 Meeting/Venue 

Monday 11th December        2pm-3.30pm Public – West Caerphilly   
Penallta House, Tredomen Park, Caerphilly,CF82 
7PG 

Thursday 14th December  10am-11.30am   Public – East Caerphilly 
Newbridge Memo, Newbridge, NP11 4FH 

Thursday 14th December  2pm-3.30pm Public – North Caerphilly 
White Rose Information Resource Centre, 
Elliotstown, New Tredegar, NP24 6EF 

 

Page 49

mailto:OAMHEngagement.abb@wales.nhs.uk


 16 

9. WHAT HAPPENS NEXT?   

 

The consultation will take place between 1st November and 26th January 

2018.  The outcome of the consultation will be reported to the Aneurin 

Bevan Community Health Council and the Aneurin Bevan University 

Health Board.   

 

__________________ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 17 

REDESIGNING OLDER ADULT MENTAL HEALTH 

SERVICES IN GWENT  

 

About You 

 

1. Name:     ______________________________________________ 

 

2. Address:  ______________________________________________ 

 

3. Which of the following best describes you?   (Please tick): 

 

About This Consultation 

 

4.  From reading this document, are you aware of the current 

 issues facing older adult mental health services in Gwent?  

 

 

 

If not, what information would have helped?  

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

 

5.  Have you had sufficient information to be able to provide 

comments on this consultation? 

 

Yes  

No  

If not, what information would have helped?  

_________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

 Patient 

 Family member/Carer 

 Member of Health Board staff 

 Other staff working in health, social care or the voluntary sector 

 Other (If other please specify) : 

Yes  

No  

Page 51



 18 

6.  Do you agree/disagree that older adult mental health 

services in Gwent need to change? 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Please tell us why?  

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

 

About Our Services 

 

7.  Do you agree/disagree with the vision for older adult mental 

health services shared within this consultation? Specifically: 

 

“The redevelopment of mental health services for older adults with a 

preferred option of enhancing community based services and 

consolidating in-patient provision to a smaller number of centres of 

excellence.” 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Please tell us why?  

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 19 

8.  Do you agree/disagree with the proposals on how we are 

planning to deliver this vision?  Specifically: 

 

8a Strengthening local community services to support older adults with 

 mental health problems. 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

 

If you agree, please tell us in what ways you would like us to strengthen 

our community services? If you disagree please tell us why? 

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

 

8b Developing a specialist unit for the in-patient care of older adults 

with a functional mental illness such as schizophrenia, anxiety and 

depression.  

 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Please tell us why? 

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

8c Reducing the number of dementia assessment units in Gwent to 

three wards in order to be able to deliver safer and more sustainable 

services. 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Page 53



 20 

Please tell us why? 

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

 

8d  Travelling a little further for specialist inpatient services.  

 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Please tell us why? 

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

 

9.  Based on the information provided, would you 

agree/disagree with the preferred option (Option 3) outlined in 

this consultation paper? 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Please tell us why?  

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

 

10.  Do you agree/disagree with the proposed geographical 

location of the  units? 

 

Agree  

Disagree  

 

Please tell us why?  

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

Page 54



 21 

 

11. Is there anything else you would like to tell us? 

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________ 

Thank you for completing this questionnaire 

 

Once complete please return it to: 

 

Ms Sara Kay-Green,  

Administration Officer 

First Access Building, County Hospital, 

Coed-y-Gric Road,  

Griffithstown, Pontypool,  

Torfaen NP4 5YA. 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Chairman's announcement and receipt of petitions
	5 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14th December 2017
	Minutes

	6 To receive the minutes of the Public Service Board meeting held on 8th November 2017
	7 To receive the action list of the meeting held on 14th December 2017
	8a Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19
	9 ANEURIN BEVAN UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD - REDESIGNING MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR OLDER PEOPLE - DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE
	Appendix A - DRAFT Response to Aneurin Bevan University Health Board Older Adult Mental Health Consultation
	appendix b - Consultation Paper - Incuding Questionnaire - Final version 01.11.2017 (002)


